Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-19-2011

Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Co v. Eisenman Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38703

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal by Appellant-Plaintiff-Counterdefendant, Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Company of Idaho, ["Farm Bureau"], from the district court's grant of summary judgment to Defendants-Counterclaimants-Respondents on an issue of insurance coverage in an underinsured motorist claim ["UIM"]. The claim involved an insured decedent's personal representatives and adult children making an underinsured motorist claim against decedent's auto policy. Farm Bureau denied the claim because Defendants were not defined as insureds in the underinsured motorist part of the policy as they were not named insureds and were not living at decedent's residence. R p. 229.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS IN THE TRIAL COURT

Plaintiff-Counterdefendant-Appellant, Farm Bureau, filed a Complaint, and then an Amended Complaint for declaratory relief against Defendants-Counterclaimants-Respondents Michael John Eisenman, Kathryn Marie, individually and co-personal representatives of the Estate of Patricia Eisenman, Rebecca L. McGavin and Peter Eisenman, individually ["Defendants"]. R p. 4 and 8. The Amended Complaint asked the district court to determine the issue of claimed coverage of a part of the underinsured motorist coverage in the policy. R p. 11. Defendants then filed an answer and a counterclaim against Farm Bureau for breach of contract. R p. 60.

After a short period of discovery, Defendants filed a motion for summary judgment on the insurance coverage issue. R p. 80. Farm Bureau then filed its motion for summary judgment on the insurance coverage issue. R p. 240. District Judge Michael McLaughlin conducted a

hearing on the motions for summary judgment. Tr p. 5 - 37. Judge McLaughlin took the matter under advisement and filed a Memorandum Decision. R p. 266. Judge McLaughlin ruled in favor of Defendants and against Farm Bureau. R p. 273. From that ruling, Farm Bureau filed its timely notice of appeal to this Court. R p. 278.

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Farm Bureau sold a policy of insurance to Insured, decedent Patricia Eisenman. R p. 9. The policy was a Farm and Ranch Squire policy which combined coverage for the farm, home, equipment, and automobiles. R p. 13 – 54. Section III of the policy, the automobile insurance coverage part, included insurance for uninsured and underinsured motorists in Coverage P and P-1. R p. 43 – 46. On November 30, 2007, Mrs. Eisenman was walking to a concert at her church near downtown Boise. As she crossed the street, she was struck by an auto driven by Mary Zahm. R p. 267. Ms. Eisenman died of her injuries. *Id.* The driver was convicted of vehicular manslaughter. *Id.*

Two of Ms. Eisenman's adult children became personal representatives of her estate. R p. 153. A claim was made by the personal representatives of Ms. Eisenman's estate against the auto insurance of the driver. R p. 267. The driver's insurer paid the policy limit of liability insurance, \$50,000. Ms. Eisenman's surviving adult children retained counsel who made a claim against Mrs. Eisenman's Farm Bureau policy. Farm Bureau paid an accidental death benefit, pursuant to the policy, to the estate. R p. 222. After some time, Defendant's current counsel was retained. Subsequently, one of Ms. Eisenman's personal representatives, made a claim to Farm Bureau under the underinsured motorist coverage part of Ms. Eisenman's policy. A sworn proof of loss was presented to Farm Bureau. R p. 138. The sworn proof of loss also requested the policy limits of Ms. Eisenman's underinsured motorist coverage which were \$500,000. R p. 139. Farm Bureau

paid, in addition to the accidental death benefit, the hospital, medical, and funeral costs for Ms. Eisenman to the personal representative's attorney under a separate coverage part. R p. 224.

The medical and funeral expenses were paid under a separate coverage provision in the policy, Coverage Q – Medical Payments. R p. 46, and p. 70-71. After Farm Bureau made its payments, it denied coverage for the underinsured motorist claim for the reason that neither Mrs. Eisenman's estate, the personal representatives of the estate, nor Ms. Eisenman's adult children were insureds as defined by the policy. R p. 70-71. In fact, Defendant adult children admitted that they were not named insureds and were not living with their mother at the time of her death. R p. 247.

After the motions for summary judgment were filed by the parties, District Judge Michael McLaughlin conducted a hearing on the motions for summary judgment, Tr p. 5 – 37. Judge McLaughlin ruled in his Memorandum Decision that the question, in the case, was a matter of first impression in Idaho. He found the issue to be one of statutory construction of Idaho's Wrongful Death Act, Idaho Code §5-311, and how the insurance policy interacts with the Act. R p. 271.

Judge McLaughlin found that Defendant personal representatives of Ms. Eisenman's estate brought this action on her behalf pursuant to Idaho Code §5-311. R p. 271. The district court' decision then examined the language of the policy to see if Ms. Eisenman's personal representatives were entitled to recover pursuant to Idaho Code §5-311, and the decision determined that they were so entitled. R p. 271. For its controlling authority, the district court relied upon a 1990 Alabama case, *Sprouse v. Hawk*, 574 So.2d 754, 756-57 (Ala. 1990). The district court also relied upon the Alabama Wrongful Death Statute, Ala. Code 1975 § 6-5-410,

which allows only a personal representative to bring a wrongful death action against a negligent tortfeasor. *Id.*; R p. 271.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- A. Whether the district court erred as a matter of law in finding that the personal representatives of Ms. Eisenman's estate and her heirs, were entitled to recover damages from the underinsured motorist part of Ms. Eisenman's Farm Bureau automobile insurance policy because her personal representatives and her heirs were authorized by law to recover damages under the policy pursuant to Idaho's Wrongful Death Act.
- B. Whether Farm Bureau's uninsured/underinsured ["UM/UIM"] motorist policy provides for the recovery of damages only to persons defined as insureds under the insuring agreement of the underinsured motorist part of Ms. Eisenman's Farm Bureau automobile insurance policy.
- C. Whether the district court erred in finding that the personal representatives of Ms. Eisenman's estate and her heirs were entitled to recover damages under the underinsured motorist loss payable clause of Ms. Eisenman's Farm Bureau automobile insurance policy rather than under the insuring clause.

III. ARGUMENT

- A. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN FINDING THAT THE PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVES OF MS. EISENMAN'S ESTATE AND HER HEIRS, WERE ENTITLED TO RECOVER DAMAGES FROM THE UNDERINSURED MOTORIST PART OF MS. EISENMAN'S FARM BUREAU AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE POLICY BECAUSE THE PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVES AND HEIRS WERE AUTHORIZED BY LAW TO RECOVER DAMAGES UNDER THE POLICY PURSUANT TO IDAHO'S WRONGFUL DEATH ACT.
 - 1. The Standard of Review and the Standard for Summary Judgment
 - a. The Standard of Review is Free Review.

Summary judgment under I.R.C.P. 56(c) can be granted by a trial court when there are no genuine issues of material fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Edwards v. Conchemco, Inc.*, 111 Idaho 851, 852, 727 P.2d 1279, 1280 (Ct.App.1986). In ruling on a motion for summary judgment, all controverted facts are to be liberally construed in favor of the nonmoving party. All reasonable inferences of fact must be drawn in favor of the nonmoving party. *G & M Farms v. Funk Irrigation Co.*, 119 Idaho 514, 517, 808 P.2d 851, 854 (1991); *Sanders v. Kuna Joint School Dist.*, 125 Idaho 872, 874, 876 P.2d 154, 156 (Ct.App.1994). Additionally,

The burden of proving the absence of material facts is upon the moving party. Once the moving party establishes the absence of a genuine issue, the burden shifts to the nonmoving party to show that a genuine issue of material fact on the challenged element of the claim does exist. The nonmoving party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials contained in the pleadings, but must come forward and produce evidence by affidavits or as otherwise provided in the rules to set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. I.R.C.P. 56(e). (Citations omitted).

Levinger v. Mercy Medical Center, Nampa, 139 Idaho 192, 195, 75 P.3d 1202, 1205 (2003). Finally, this Court has stated: "When questions of law are presented, this Court exercises free review and is not bound by findings of the district court, but is free to draw its own conclusions from the evidence presented." Mutual of Enumclaw v. Box, 127 Idaho 851, 852, 908 P.2d 153, 154 (1995).

b. The Standard for Granting Summary Judgment is the Same as That Used by the District Court Under I.R.C.P. 56(c).

When reviewing an order for summary judgment, the standard of review for this Court is the same standard used by the district court in ruling on the motion. *Watson v. Weick*, 141 Idaho

500, 504, 112 P.3d 788, 792 (2005). Summary judgment may be granted when the pleadings, affidavits, and discovery documents before the court indicate no genuine issue of material fact exists, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.*; I.R.C.P. 56(c); *Baxter v. Craney*, 135 Idaho 166, 170, 16 P.3d 263, 267 (2000). The moving party carries the burden of proving the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. *Id*.

When questions of law are presented on a motion for summary judgment, the court must determine, "whether a genuine issue of material fact exists and whether the prevailing party was entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Doe v. City of Elk River*, 144 Idaho 337, 338, 160 P.3d 1272, 1273 (2007). "If uncontroverted facts exist which lead to a definite disposition as a matter of law, summary judgment is appropriate." *G & M Farms v. Funk Irrigation Co.*, 119 Idaho 514, 524, 808 P.2d 851, 861 (1991).

The district court found that there were no genuine issues of fact, but that the dispute centered on how the language in the Farm Bureau underinsured motorist policy interacted with Idaho's Wrongful Death Act, Idaho Code, § 5-311. R p. 271.

2. The Legal Framework for Reviewing Insurance Policies

This Court follows several well established rules for the interpretation of insurance policies. Insurance policies are interpreted the same as other contracts. If there is no ambiguous language in the policy provisions, applicable to the facts of the case, the rules of contract interpretation are followed. When ambiguous language in the applicable provisions is encountered, special rules of interpretation are followed, and the policy is construed against the insurer. *Arreguin v. Farmers Insurance Co. of Idaho*, 145 Idaho 459, 461, 180 P.3d 489, 500 (2006). If confronted with ambiguous language, the reviewing court must determine what a

reasonable person would understand the language to be. *Allstate Insurance Co. v. Mocaby*, 133 Idaho 593, 597, 990 P.2d 1204, 1208 (1999).

A district court must construe the policy as a whole, not focusing on any isolated phrase. *Cascade Auto Glass, Inc. v. Farm Bureau Insurance Co.*, 141 Idaho 660, 663, 115 P.3d 751, 754 (2005). If the policy language is clear and unambiguous, then its coverage is determined as a matter of law in accordance with the plain meaning of the words used. *Id.* 116 Idaho at 662, 115 P.3d at 753. If two or more reasonable, but conflicting interpretations may be derived from the policy language, the language is ambiguous. *Id.*, 141 Idaho at 663, 115 P.3d at 754.

Furthermore, every word and phrase in an insurance contract does not need to be defined in the contract. *Nat'l Union Fire Insurance Co. of Pittsburgh, PA v. Dixon*, 141 Idaho 537, 540, 112 P.3d 825, 828 (2005). An ambiguity is not established merely because the parties present differing interpretations to the court. *Treasure Valley Transit v. Philadelphia Indem. Insurance Co.*, 139 Idaho 925, 928, 88 P.3d 744, 747 (2004).

Finally, where policy language is found to be unambiguous, the court is to construe the policy as written, since the court will not construct or write a new policy for the parties, nor add words to, "create or avoid liability." *Purvis v. Progressive Casualty Insurance Co.*, 142 Idaho 213, 216, 127 P.3d 116, 119 (2005).

The district court did not find that the language in the Farm Bureau underinsured motorist policy was ambiguous. R p. 270-273.

B. FARM BUREAU'S UNINSURED/UNDERINSURED MOTORIST POLICY PROVIDES FOR THE RECOVERY OF DAMAGES ONLY TO PERSONS DEFINED AS INSUREDS UNDER THE INSURING AGREEMENT OF THE UNDERINSURED MOTORIST PART OF MS. EISENMAN'S FARM BUREAU AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE POLICY.

1. This case is governed by the version of the uninsured motorist act, Idaho Code § 41-2502(1), in effect in 2007 and the language of the Farm Bureau Policy.

Farm Bureau's underinsured motorist policy must be interpreted according to the language in the policy and the version of Idaho Code § 41-2502(1) which was in effect at the time of the accident in November 2007. See Appendix A. for the full text of Idaho Code § 41-2502(1) in effect in November 2007. In 2007, Idaho required all automobile liability policies to offer only uninsured motorist coverage, subject to written refusal by the named insured. Id. This Court has held that there is no public policy governing underinsured motorist coverage, and the provisions of the insurance policy govern when determining coverage. Erland v. Nationwide Insurance Co., 136 Idaho 131, 133, 30 P.3d 803, 288 (2001); Farmers Ins. Co. of Idaho v. Buffa, 119 Idaho 345, 347, 806 P.2d 438, 440 (1991) ("Underinsured coverage in this state is a matter of contract law, not public policy.") Fetherston By and Through Featherston v. Allstate Insurance. Co., 125 Idaho 840, 843, 875 P.2d 973, 940 (1987), n. 1., (Idaho's statutory scheme does not mandate underinsured motorist coverage).

Idaho's legislature required underinsured motorist coverage to be offered with uninsured motorist coverage on January 1, 2009. So, the coverage afforded by the Farm Bureau underinsured motorist coverage in Ms. Eisenman's policy in effect on the date of the accident must be determined by rules governing contracts and the language of the policy itself. The district court, in its decision, used the 2009 (current) version of Idaho Code § 41-2502(2) in its decision, not the 2007 version of statute when underinsured motorist coverage was not required to be offered. R p. 270.

As of January 5, 2011 this Court has announced that there is a public policy in favor of underinsured motorist coverage. *Hill v. American Family Mut. Insurance Co.*, 150 Idaho 619,

249 P.3d 812 (2011); *see infra* p. 14,. Farm Bureau had of course offered and Mrs. Eisenman had contracted for underinsured motorist coverage before the effective date of the statute.

2. Only Insureds, as defined in the Policy, can receive benefits under the uninsured motorist coverage provisions.

Farm Bureau's underinsured motorist coverage has the following insuring agreement:

COVERAGE P-1 – UNDERINSURED MOTORIST

We will pay damages which an **insured** is legally entitled to recover from the owner or operator of an **underinsured motor vehicle** because of **bodily injury** sustained by an **insured** and caused by an **occurrence**. The owner's or operator's liability for these damages must arise from the ownership, maintenance or use of the **underinsured motor vehicle**.

The following additional definitions apply to Coverages P & P-1:

- 1. **Insured** means:
 - a. You and any relative;
 - b. Anyone occupying an insured vehicle; or
 - c. Anyone occupying a **nonowned vehicle** while operated by you or your **relative.**

R p. 44.

The bolded words above are defined in the policy.

DEFINITIONS APPLICABLE TO SECTION III

The following definitions apply to Section III.

Throughout this Section, we, us, and our mean the Company named in the Declarations. You and you mean the person named in the Declarations and that person's spouse if a resident of the same household. You and you also refer to a partnership, corporation, limited liability company, estate, or trust named in the Declarations. The following defined words appear in bold print in the policy.

Bodily injury means physical injury or death to a person. . . .

Occurrence means an accident arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of a motor vehicle, including continuous or repeated exposure to conditions which results in unexpected bodily injury or property damage during the policy period. All bodily injury and property damage resulting from a common cause shall be considered the result of one occurrence. . . .

Relative means a person related to you by blood, marriage or adoption who is a resident of your household, including a ward or foster child.

R p. 20, 21.

The language of the Farm Bureau policy has previously been examined by the Idaho Court of Appeals in *Baker v. Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Co. of Idaho, Inc.*, 130 Idaho 415, 417, 941 P.2d 1316, 1318 (Ct. App. 1997). Coverage P of the policy in that case was identical to that of Ms. Eisenman's policy. It stated:

We will pay damages which an insured is legally entitled to recover from the owner or operator of an . . . underinsured motor vehicle because of bodily injury sustained by an insured and caused by an occurrence.

Id.

Bodily injury in *Baker v. Farm Bureau*, as in this case, was defined to include death. *Id.*, R p. 19. Insured was defined to include relatives living in the same household as the named insured. The UIM coverage part of the Farm Bureau policy is unambiguous, and the district court in this case did not find otherwise. Instead, the district court focused on the language in Idaho's Wrongful Death Act which defined heirs who can recover under the Act. Defendants met the definition of an heir in the Act. The district court then went to quote the UIM language in Ms. Eisenman's policy which states:

We will pay damages which an insured is legally entitled to recover from the owner or operator of an underinsured motor vehicle because of bodily injury sustained by an insured and caused by an occurrence.

R p. 273.

The district court completed its analysis with the following logic. The first premise is that Idaho's Wrongful Death Act allows personal representatives to sue, on behalf of the statutory heirs, the wrongdoer who caused the death. The next premise is that Defendants are personal

representatives and heirs of Ms. Eisenman's estate. The next premise is that Farm Bureau's loss payable clause, not the insuring agreement, states that "any amount due under this coverage" may be paid "to a person authorized by law to receive such payment, or to a person who is legally entitled to recover the damages which the payment represents." The next premise is that Defendants as personal representatives and heirs are entitled to recover damages from a wrongdoer under Idaho's Wrongful Death Act. The next premise, is that Farm Bureau's UIM insuring agreement states, "We will pay damages which an insured is legally entitled to recover from the owner or operator of an underinsured motor vehicle because of bodily injury sustained by an insured and caused by an occurrence." Finally, the district court's logic concluded with this statement:

The insurance policy in the case specifically provided insurance coverage for Patricia Eisenman in the event of physical injury or death. Furthermore, the Defendants are entitled to recover those damages pursuant to Idaho's Wrongful Death Act. Therefore, the Court grants the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and denies the Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment.

R p. 272 - 273.

The district court's logic is flawed because it failed to first consider the definition of an insured in the policy and then to apply that definition to Defendants who were making the UIM claim for the death of Ms. Eisenman. It is agreed that Ms. Eisenman was the only named insured in the policy. R p. 13. The policy went on to define the term, "relative", as a person related to the named insured by blood, marriage, or adoption who is a resident of insured's household. R p. 21. The term "insured" was further defined in the UM/UIM coverage as the named insured and any relative. R p. 26. Putting the two definitions together, an insured can be the named insured or a relative residing in the same household as the named insured. Defendants were neither named insureds or were they relatives residing in the same household as their mother. If Ms. Eisenman

wished to add her adult nonresident children to her policy, she could have done so by specifically requesting the same, having Farm Bureau's underwriting rate the additional risk, and by paying the additional premium.

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