9-23-2011

Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Co v. Eisenman Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38703

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

ARGUMENT

1. THE INTERPRETATION OF A PROVISION IN AN INSURANCE POLICY IS A QUESTION OF LAW OVER WHICH THIS COURT EXERCISES “FREE REVIEW” ON APPEAL.

When interpreting insurance policies, Idaho courts are to apply the general rules of contract law subject to certain special canons of construction. *Brinkman v. Aid Ins. Co.*, 115 Idaho 346, 352 (1988). Insurance policies are like any other bilateral contract; they

are a matter of contract between the insurer and the insured. *Id.* Beginning with the plain language of the insurance policy, the first step is to determine whether or not there is an ambiguity. *Martinez v. Idaho Counties Reciprocal Management Program*, 134 Idaho 247, 250 (2000). Whether an ambiguity exists is a question of law. *DeLancey v. DeLancey*, 110 Idaho 63, 65 (1986). Here, the parties agree that the underinsured motorist provision is unambiguous.

Interpretation of an unambiguous written contract is also a question of law over which an appellate court will exercise free review. *St. Clair v. Krueger*, 115 Idaho 702 (1989). “Where the policy language is clear and unambiguous, coverage must be determined, as a matter of law, according to the plain meaning of the words used.” *Clark v. Prudential Property and Cas. Ins. Co.*, 138 Idaho 538, 541 (2003). More importantly, where the policy language is unambiguous, Idaho courts must “construe the policy as written” and “cannot create a liability not assumed by the insurer nor make a new contract for the parties or one different from that plainly intended, nor add words to the contract of insurance to either create or avoid liability.” *Armstrong v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Idaho*, 147 Idaho 67, 70 (2009) (emphasis added).

Where the policy is ambiguous its meaning is a question of fact. *DeLancey*, 110 Idaho at 65 (1986). In a declaratory judgment action, a district court may resolve issues of fact incidental to the determination of rights and duties under the contract. See *I.C. 10-1209*. See also, *Farmers Ins. Exchange v. Tucker*, 142 Idaho 191, 194 (2005). An ambiguity exists where the “policy is reasonably subject to conflicting interpretations.” *Arreguin v. Farmers Ins. Co.*, 145 Idaho 459, 461 (2008). When confronted with

ambiguous language in an insurance contract, Idaho courts must determine what a reasonable person would have understood the language to mean. *Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Roberts*, 128 Idaho 232, 235 (1996). The words used in the insurance policy must then be construed in their ordinary meaning. *Id.* However, as contracts of adhesion, not typically subject to negotiation between the parties, an ambiguity “must be construed most strongly against the insurer.” See *Moss v. Mid-American Fire and Marine Ins. Co.*, 103 Idaho 298, 300 (1982). The burden is on the insurer to use clear and precise language if it wishes to restrict the scope of coverage. *Id.*

In the district court below, Judge McLaughlin recognized the issue as a question of law and granted the Estate’s motion for summary judgment. R. p. 271. Judge McLaughlin’s decision was correct and this Court should affirm his Honor’s ruling. However, when this Court is presented with a question of law on appeal, it “exercises free review and is not bound by the findings of the district court, but is free to draw its own conclusion from the evidence presented.” *Mutual of Enumclaw v. Box*, 127 Idaho 851, 852 (1995). Likewise, when reviewing an order for summary judgment on appeal, the appellate court exercises free review in determining whether a genuine issue of material fact exists and whether the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Edwards v. Conchemco, Inc.*, 111 Idaho 851, 852 (Ct. App. 1986). The appellate court uses the same summary judgment standard used by the district courts below. *Cristo Viene Pentecostal Church v. Paz*, 144 Idaho 304, 307 (2007).

Summary judgment is appropriate “if the pleadings, depositions and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any

material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” I.R.C.P. 56(c). If there is no genuine issue of material fact, only a question of law remains, over which the courts exercise free review. *Jones v. HealthSouth Treasure Valley Hosp.*, 147 Idaho 109, 111 (2009). The burden of establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material facts is on the moving party. *Porter v. Bassett*, 146 Idaho 399, 403 (2008). The district court is to liberally construe all disputed facts in favor of the nonmoving party, and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the record are to be drawn in favor of the nonmoving party. *Id.*

“It is axiomatic that upon a motion for summary judgment the non-moving party may not rely upon its pleadings, but must come forward with evidence by way of affidavit or otherwise which contradicts the evidence submitted by the moving party, and which establishes the existence of a material issue of disputed fact. *Jones*, *supra*, 147 Idaho at 112 (quoting *Zhem v. Associated Logging Contractors, Inc.*, 116 Idaho 349, 350 (1998)). The nonmoving party must submit more than just conclusory assertions that an issue of material fact exists to withstand summary judgment. *Van v. Portneuf Med. Ctr.*, 212 P.3d 982 (2009). “A mere scintilla of evidence or only slight doubt as to the facts is not sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact for the purposes of summary judgment.” *Id.* Rather, the nonmoving party must respond to the summary judgment motion with specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial. *Id.* Further, “if the nonmoving party fails to provide a sufficient showing to establish the essential elements of his or her case, judgment shall be granted to the moving party.” *Porter v. Bassett*, 146 Idaho 399, 403 (2008).

2. **THE UNDERINSURED MOTORIST PROVISION THAT MS. EISENMAN PURCHASED FROM FARM BUREAU UNAMBIGUOUSLY PROMISED TO PAY ANY AND ALL “DAMAGES” THAT MS. EISENMAN’S ESTATE IS LEGALLY ENTITLED TO RECOVER AGAINST MS. ZAHM, INCLUDING WRONGFUL DEATH DAMAGES PURSUANT TO IDAHO CODE § 5-311.**

Again, the pertinent portion of the insuring agreement of the underinsured motorist coverage that Ms. Eisenman purchased from Farm Bureau reads as follows:

We [Farm Bureau] will pay damages which an **insured** is legally entitled to recover from the owner or operator of an **underinsured motor vehicle** because of bodily injury sustained by an **insured** and caused by an **occurrence**.

R. p. 122.

None of the above terms or definitions are in dispute. In fact, Farm Bureau agrees that the underinsured motorist provision is unambiguous. Specifically, Farm Bureau concedes that Ms. Eisenman was an “insured” at the time of her unfortunate death. R. pp. 75-79. Similarly, it is undisputed that the collision was an “occurrence” and that Ms. Zahm was operating an “underinsured motor vehicle.” *Id.* Regardless, it goes without saying that the limit of Ms. Zahm’s AIG policy (i.e. \$50,000) is significantly less than the limits of Ms. Eisenman’s underinsured motorist coverage (i.e. \$500,000). Further, Farm Bureau expressly included “death” within the definition of “bodily injury”, thus promising Ms. Eisenman that Farm Bureau would pay any and all recoverable “damages” in the event of her untimely death due to an “occurrence”. R. p. 20 (defining “bodily injury” as “physical injury or death to a person.”).

The Farm Bureau policy, including its underinsured motorist provision, was written in Idaho and sold to an Idaho insured. Idaho law clearly governs and the policy

must be viewed as contemplating Idaho law, including Idaho's probate statutes and wrongful death statute, particularly in view of the fact that this policy specifically covered "bodily injury" which was defined to include death. Idaho's wrongful death statute provides in pertinent part as follows:

When the death of a person is caused by the wrongful act or neglect of another, his or her heirs or personal representatives on their behalf may maintain an action for damages against the person causing the death...

Idaho Code § 5-311(1). It is well-settled in Idaho that the Estate may sue Ms. Zahm to collect wrongful death damages on behalf of Ms. Eisenman's Heirs pursuant to Idaho's wrongful death statute. *Idaho Code* § 5-311. *See, generally, Turpen v. Garnieri*, 133 Idaho 244 (1999) and *Russell v. Cox*, 65 Idaho 534 (1994) [establishing that an action pursuant to Idaho Code § 5-311 may be maintained by the personal representatives of the decedent).

Under Idaho law, upon the death of an individual, the estate and through it the personal representatives, hold all rights, contract and otherwise, previously held by the decedent. Under Idaho law, courts are to interpret the rights of the personal representative to be those that the "decedent had immediately prior to death." *Idaho Code* § 15-3-703(c). *See also Idaho Code* § 15-3-715 (enumerating various powers of the personal representatives). The Estate and its personal representatives "stand in the shoes" of the decedent in prosecuting and defending the decedent's legal claims, including contractual agreements. *Id.* In other words, the Estate in this case is the "insured" as contemplated in Farm Bureau's underinsured motorist provision. Prior to this litigation,

Farm Bureau recognized that the Estate is the “insured”. R. p. 220-224 (in making partial payment for the “undisputed UIM owed to estate”, Farm Bureau identified “Patricia Eisenman Estate” as the “insured”.)

Under Farm Bureau’s insuring provisions, Farm Bureau inserted no language restricting or otherwise limiting the type or nature of the “damages” that it promised to pay. In fact, Farm Bureau specifically included “death” within the term “bodily injury”. In drafting the insuring provision of the underinsured motorist coverage, Farm Bureau broadly promised to pay any and all damages regardless of who they belong to, so long as they occurred because of “bodily injury”, including death, sustained by Ms. Eisenman. R. p. 44. As Judge McLaughlin noted, other provisions of the policy support this analysis. R. p. 268. In the conditions section of the Farm Bureau policy, Farm Bureau provided for the payment of damages “[t]o a person authorized by law to receive such payment or to a person who is legally entitled to recover damages which the payment represents.” R. p. 45. This language clearly contemplates payment to one legally entitled to recover, such as the personal representatives of the Eisenman Estate. Here, the personal representatives are specifically authorized by Idaho Code § 5-311 to pursue this claim on behalf of the Estate and the Heirs.

This Court must apply the plain meaning of the provision and broadly construe the policy as written. *Clark v. Prudential Property and Cas. Ins. Co.*, 138 Idaho 538, 540 (2003). This Court is not allowed to apply a limited definition of “damages” or otherwise create exceptions that Farm Bureau did not expressly include in its policy. *Armstrong v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Idaho*, 147 Idaho 67 (2009). Farm Bureau did not exclude wrongful

death damages and no such exception can be created at this time. Even if the meaning of “damages” is ambiguous, any such ambiguity must be construed strongly against Farm Bureau as it would act to exclude coverage. *See, e.g., Moss v. Mid-America Fire and Marine Ins. Co.*, 103 Idaho 298, 300 (1982).

Finally, the district court’s reliance on *Sprouse v. Hawk*, 574 So.2d 754 (Ala. 1990) is not misplaced as Farm Bureau suggests. As a preliminary matter, the wrongful death statute at issue in *Sprouse* allowed the personal representatives to recover on behalf of the heirs, just like Idaho Code § 5-311. Further, the holding in *Sprouse* stands for the proposition that proceeds received under an insurance policy representing wrongful death damages may be distributed according to a state’s wrongful death statute. 574 So.2d 754, 757. To distribute the proceeds accordingly in the instant case will be consistent with Idaho Code § 5-311 and Farm Bureau’s underinsured motorist provision. *Idaho Code* § 5-311 calls for the proceeds obtained by the personal representatives to be distributed amongst Ms. Eisenman’s four children all of whom qualify as “heirs” under the statute. *Idaho Code* § 5-311(1) and (2)(b). Similarly, Farm Bureau’s own policy language allows the wrongful death benefits to be made either to the Estate, the personal representatives, or directly to the Heirs. R. p. 45. Farm Bureau’s “payment of loss” provision provides that payment may be made to the “insured” (i.e. the Estate) as well as:

To a person authorized by law to receive such payment, or to a person who is legally entitled to recover the damages which the payment represents.

R. p. 45. Farm Bureau’s choice of language in its “payment of loss” provision clearly indicates that Farm Bureau contemplated payments under the policy to be made to an

estate, the personal representatives, or anyone else who can legally receive such payments. Farm Bureau wrote this policy in Idaho and must have been aware of Idaho's probate statutes, as well as Idaho Code § 5-311. Accordingly, payments representing wrongful death damages may be paid directly to the Estate or the Heirs in this matter.

3. FARM BUREAU HAS PRESENTED VARIOUS INACCURACIES AND “STRAW MAN” ARGUMENTS WHICH THIS COURT SHOULD REJECT OR DISREGARD COMPLETELY.

First and foremost, Farm Bureau has repeatedly argued throughout this litigation that the Heirs are not entitled to any damages or benefits because they are not “insureds” as defined under the policy. This argument misses the point entirely. The Estate has never argued that the Heirs are “insureds”. Ms. Eisenman was the sole named “insured”. Through the probate process, Ms. Eisenman’s Estate and its personal representatives have become the “insured”. Again, this fact really is not in dispute. *See, e.g.* R. p. 224 (in which Farm Bureau identified the “insured” as the “Patricia Eisenman Estate”). The proof of loss was submitted by the Estate to recover the wrongful death damages that it is legally entitled to collect from Ms. Zahm pursuant to Idaho Code § 5-311. R. pp. 138-215. Whether Ms. Eisenman’s individual Heirs are “insureds” is irrelevant.

Second, Farm Bureau represents that it has never paid any damages to the Estate pursuant to the underinsured motorist provision and that the provision did not promise to pay any damages to Ms. Eisenman’s Estate. *Appellant’s Brief*, pp. 3, 12. These claims are incorrect and disingenuous and Farm Bureau should be estopped from making such arguments. Obviously, Ms. Eisenman was living at the time she purchased the policy so no Estate had yet been created. However, by including “death” within the definition of

“bodily injury”, the underinsured motorist policy contemplated that damages would be payable to the Estate and/or personal representatives in the event of Ms. Eisenman’s death. Further, Farm Bureau has already paid damages to the Estate, thus recognizing the Estate’s right to receive payment for underinsured motorist benefits. R. pp. 220-224. By way of the May 19, 2010 check, Farm Bureau specifically paid \$22,941.40 to the Estate in payment of the “undisputed UIM owed to estate.” R. p. 224. It is important to note yet again that Farm Bureau identified the Estate as the “insured” in making the partial payment. R. p. 224.

Third, Farm Bureau unnecessarily cites to the Idaho Supreme Court case *Evans v. Twin Falls County*, 118 Idaho 210 (1990). In *Evans*, the Court affirmed its prior holding that “an injured person who is dead cannot benefit from an award for *his* pain and suffering.” 118 Idaho 210, 214 (emphasis the Court’s) (quoting *Vulk v. Haley*, 112 Idaho 855, 859 (1987)). In other words, Idaho does not recognize a “survival” claim. However, in this case, the Estate is not attempting to collect damages representative of Ms. Eisenman’s own pain and suffering that was certainly inflicted upon her at the time of her death. Instead, the Estate is making a claim on behalf of Ms. Eisenman’s Heirs for the damages they suffered as a result of her death. Such a claim is specifically authorized in Idaho pursuant to Idaho Code § 5-311 as was clearly recognized by the Court in *Evans v. Twin Falls County*. 118 Idaho at 213-216.

Fourth, Farm Bureau’s discussion of *Farmers Ins. Co. of Idaho v. Buffa*, 119 Idaho 345 (1991) (superseded by statute) and the Idaho Legislature’s amendment to Idaho Code § 41-2502 is misplaced. In *Buffa*, the claimants argued that unfavorable language in the

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